
PC2-45 
 

Disclaimer 
These minutes reflect the actions taken by the Commission during its June 10, 2022 meeting.  Although these 
minutes have been approved by the Commission, no action authorized by the Commission during this 
meeting, as reflected in these minutes, shall have force or effect until ten (10) days, Saturdays, Sundays and 
public holidays excepted, after a copy of these minutes has been delivered to the Governor for review, unless 
prior to expiration of the review period the governor approves same, in which case the action shall become 
effective upon such approval.  These minutes were delivered to the Governor on June 20, 2022. 
 
 
  
 
 

 
 

PINELANDS COMMISSION MEETING 
 

MINUTES 
June 10, 2022 

 
 All participants were either in-person or present via Zoom conference and the meeting 
was livestreamed through YouTube: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=NefRhdjPRMc 
 
Commissioners Participating in the Meeting  
 
Alan W. Avery Jr., Dan Christy, John Holroyd, Jerome H. Irick, Theresa Lettman, Ed 
Lloyd, Mark Lohbauer, Davon McCurry, Jonathan Meade, William Pikolycky, and Chair 
Laura E. Matos. Also participating were Acting Executive Director Susan R. Grogan, 
Deputy Attorney General (DAG) Nicolas Seminoff and Governor’s Authorities Unit 
representative Janice Venables. 
 
Commissioners Absent 
 
Gary Quinn & Jane Jannarone 
 
Call to Order 
 
Chair Matos called the meeting to order at 9:30 a.m.   
 
DAG Seminoff read the Open Public Meetings Act Statement (OPMA). 
 
Acting Executive Director (ED) Grogan called the roll and announced the presence of a 
quorum. Eleven Commissioners participated in the meeting. 
 
The Commission pledged allegiance to the Flag. 
 
Minutes 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=NefRhdjPRMc


PC2-46 
 

Chair Matos presented the minutes from the Commission’s May 13, 2022 meeting. 
Commissioner Pikolycky moved the adoption of the minutes. Commissioner Irick seconded 
the motion.  
 
The minutes from the May 13, 2022 Commission meeting were adopted by a vote of 10 to 
0. Commissioner McCurry abstained from the vote. 
 
 
Committee Reports 
 
Chair Matos provided a summary of the May 27, 2022 Policy and Implementation 
Committee meeting: 
 
The Committee adopted the minutes from the April 29, 2022 meeting. 
 
Stockton University officials briefed the Committee on the University’s 2020 Facilities 
Master Plan. This included an explanation of the master plan updates between 2010 and 
2020, an overview of Stockton’s land conservation obligations, and a summary of 
upcoming development projects on Stockton’s campus. Staff discussed the need to correct 
a recorded deed restriction to recognize existing infrastructure and allow for its 
improvement. No formal action was needed from the Committee.  
 
The Committee reviewed the final draft rule proposal for the Kirkwood-Cohansey Aquifer 
Comprehensive Management Plan (CMP) amendments. Staff has submitted these rules to 
the Governor’s office and is waiting for approval so that the Commission can formally act.  
The Committee was briefed on an amendment petition submitted by Bill Wolfe, asking that 
the Commission prohibit development and reconstruction in extreme wildfire risk areas.  
 
Acting ED Grogan discussed the formal rule petitioning process and explained why the 
petition submitted by Mr. Wolfe was incomplete. Both the Highlands Council and the New 
Jersey Department of Environmental Protection (DEP) have denied the petition. Again, no 
formal action was needed from the Committee.  
 
Commissioner Lohbauer provided a summary of the May 27, 2022 Climate Committee 
meeting: 
 
The Committee adopted minutes from its February 25, 2022 meeting. 
 
The Committee received an update on the project to install a rain garden at the 
Commission’s headquarters. 
 
The Committee discussed findings from the local government energy audit. The Committee 
will consider suggestions from that audit during its next meeting. 
 
The Committee also received updates on the following state initiatives: Forest Stewardship 
Task Force and the 2021 Solar Act. 



PC2-47 
 

 
He said Acting ED Grogan provided information on drafting a Resilience Action Plan and 
potential CMP amendments related to climate impacts. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Acting Executive Director’s Report 
 
Acting ED Grogan provided information on the following matters: 
 

• Staff is preparing the Fiscal Year 2023 budget. Staff will begin to share work plans 
with Committees. 
 

• The New Jersey Office of Planning Advocacy recently released a guidance 
document on developing warehouses in the state. The Executive Director of the 
State Planning Commission led the process. The document will be helpful to all 
New Jersey municipalities faced with the growing demand of warehouse 
development. The document encourages towns to involve their neighbors and 
counties. Some Pinelands municipalities are more enthusiastic about the 
construction of warehouses in their towns and some municipalities are more 
skeptical of the idea.  
 

• The Kirkwood-Cohansey rules were submitted to the Governor’s office for review 
and approval. 
 

• Staff prepared and sent the Governor’s office a draft plan to implement the State’s 
Telework Pilot Program. 
 

Chuck Horner, Director of Regulatory Programs, provided information on the following 
regulatory matters: 
 

• Staff is currently reviewing three cell tower applications all proposing to install 
FirstNet antennas. FirstNet’s primary area of communications coverage is for public 
safety but the antennas also provide general, commercial service. The Commission 
is in the process of determining whether this constitutes an accessory use or a 
principal use. 

 
• In 2009, the Commission approved a general development plan for 600 dwelling 

units located in Hamilton Township. The applicant completed threatened and 
endangered species surveys for both plant and animal species in 2006. Staff is in the 
process of determining if the applicant will have to undertake those studies again. 

 



PC2-48 
 

Commissioner Lohbauer recused himself from the update on the Forest Stewardship Task 
Force. He said he has a personal involvement. Commissioner Lohbauer was placed in a 
waiting room. 
 

• Director Horner said that after the April 28th kick-off meeting of Senator Smith’s 
Forest Stewardship Task Force, two Committees were formed: the climate 
workgroup and the ecological health workgroup. He said he and Commission 
Environmental Specialist Branwen Ellis are both members of the two Committees. 
He said he and Ms. Ellis will share the Commission’s concerns as the work of the 
Committees gets underway. He said the task force will eventually formulate state 
policy recommendations. 

 
Commissioner Lohbauer rejoined the meeting and Director Horner finished his update. 

 
• Staff is scheduled to meet with the NJDEP to discuss pre-approved enduro routes 

on existing trails at Brendan T. Byrne State Forest. 
 

• Staff participated in Hamilton Township municipal court regarding a clearing 
violation. 

 
Stacey Roth, Chief, Legal & Legislative Affairs, provided the folowing update: 
 

• Staff met with NJDEP Assistant Commissioner, Vincent Mazzei, to discuss the 
New Jersey PACT (Protection Against Climate Threats) rules. Stakeholder 
meetings took place at the end of May and the draft rules are 1,100 pages. NJDEP is 
proceeding with emergency rules for Flood Hazard Areas and Stormwater 
Management. Commission staff anticipated some of the changes, and formal 
rulemaking to amend the CMP should not be necessary at this time.  
 

• Staff submitted comments on the New Jersey Board of Public Utilities (BPU) Straw 
proposal regarding the Community Solar Incentive (CSI) Program. The anticipated 
rules provide for incentives and include the opportunity for BPU to grant waivers. 
Staff felt that applicants may confuse BPU waivers with the waiving of CMP 
standards, and asked for the opportunity to speak with BPU to ensure that Pinelands 
land use regulations are not waived. 

 
Paul Leakan, Communications Officer, provided the following information: 
 

• Approximately 100 students from the Town of Hammonton participated in a 
springtime version of World Water Monitoring Challenge at Batsto Lake on June 2. 
 

• The Commission’s native Pinelands rain garden is scheduled for installation on 
June 27th through June 29th. The wayside panel that will be placed next to the 
garden will include a QR code that takes you to a webpage describing the purpose 
and benefits of rain gardens. 

 



PC2-49 
 

He added that he is representing the Commission on the Interagency Council on Climate 
Resilience’s Communications Working Group. The group held its first meeting on June 1. 
 
Public Development Projects and Other Permit Matters 
 
Chair Matos presented a resolution for the construction of an access driveway and bus loop 
at the Maurice River Township Elementary School. 
 
Commissioner Avery made a motion Approving With Conditions an Application for Public 
Development (Application Number 1990-1140.003) (See Resolution # PC4-22-21). 
Commissioner Lohbauer seconded the motion. 
 
Director Horner said at first glance, the application looks relatively straightforward. The 
applicant is proposing to construct a driveway off of Fox Street (an aerial was displayed, 
see attached). He said the application is more complex. He said the application also 
proposes to establish a municipal storage facility in an existing masonry garage on Lot 30. 
Lot 30 is owned by Maurice River Township and is subject of an existing groundwater 
contamination cleanup from a former manufacturing plant. Lot 30 is also subject of a Green 
Acres deed restriction. A cultural resource survey was completed and artifacts were 
identified in the proposed development envelope for the driveway. The proposed driveway 
was redesigned. The proposed driveway will require the clearing of approximately .25 
acres of forest. A number of public comments were received for this application, most of 
which do not relate to the Commission’s regulations. After the public development report 
was issued, the Commission received statements from three local residents advising that 
they observed sightings of the Northern pine snake in the vicinity of the proposed 
development area. Director Horner said the Commission was aware of Northern pine snake 
sightings in the wooded area to the east of Lots 10 and 30. He said staff believes that the 
development will have no irreversible, adverse impacts on the Northern pine snake 
population. 
 
Lastly, Director Horner highlighted two significant conditions referenced in the report: no 
development shall occur on Lot 30 until the NJDEP modifies the existing deed restriction 
and the applicant must receive a written determination from the NJDEP that the property 
has been deemed safe before the masonry garage can be used as storage. 
 
Commissioner Irick asked if a threatened and endangered (T&E) species study was 
conducted for the site. 
 
Director Horner said staff determined that a T&E study was not warranted. 
 
Commissioner Lettman asked what type of deed restriction is on Lot 30. 
 
Branwen Ellis, Environmental Specialist, said it’s a conservation deed restriction. 
 
Acting ED Grogan said the property was deed restricted through the Limited Practical Use 
(LPU) acquisition program, where funds were provided by the federal government and 



PC2-50 
 

matching funds were provided by state government. The Commission identified many 
parcels that were protected under the LPU acquisition program. The NJDEP identified 
additional parcels that were protected under the Department’s version of the LPU program. 
NJDEP worked with Pinelands municipalities and in the case of Maurice River, came up 
with a 10-page list of lots to be deed restricted. Most of the lots were very small and 
vacant. Lot 30 ended up on the list unbeknownst to the Commission and even the town. 
She said she believes it was a mistake, as Lot 30 is a large parcel and contains multiple 
structures, and is not a typical LPU lot. 
 
Commissioner Lettman said based on her research, she found no evidence that the public 
hearing process has begun at Green Acres to release the deed. 
 
Acting ED Grogan said the NJDEP is aware of the application and that it wanted to be sure 
the development application was approved by the Commission before moving forward with 
lifting the deed restriction. She added that the NJDEP is also aware of the condition in the 
Public Development report. 
 
Commissioner Lettman said she thought the Township should go through the process with 
the NJDEP to remove the deed restriction before the Commission approves the application. 
 
Acting ED Grogan said someone had to initiate the process. She added that the town 
received grant funding for the project and needed to receive approval from the 
Commission. 
 
Commissioner Lettman she said she will not support the application because she is 
uncomfortable with the fact that the deed has not been lifted. 
 
Commissioner McCurry asked if an application to the Commission would be required for 
any other development on Lot 30. 
 
Director Horner said yes. 
 
Commissioner Avery asked what happens if the Commissions approves the application 
today and the NJDEP does not lift the deed restriction. 
 
Director Horner said if that happens it would be highly unlikely that the project would 
move forward. He said, however, Lot 10 is not subject of the deed restriction. 
 
Director Horner added that staff believes the application has met the requirements of the 
CMP. 
 
Acting ED Grogan called the roll: 
Commissioner Avery 

yes 

Commissioner Christy not present 
Commissioner Holroyd yes 
Commissioner Irick yes 



PC2-51 
 

Commissioner Lettman no 
Commissioner Lloyd yes 
Commissioner Lohbauer yes 
Commissioner McCurry yes 
Commissioner Meade abstain 
Commissioner Pikolycky yes 
Chair Matos yes 

 
The motion carried by a vote of 8 to1. 
 
Public Comment on Public Development Applications and Items Where the Record is 
Open 
 
Chair Matos read the list of Public Development applications up for comment. 
 
No one provided comment on the three Public Development applications. Members of the 
public did call in during this time. See General Public Comment below. 
 
Ordinances Not Requiring Commission Action 
 
Chair Matos said there are a number of ordinances listed on today’s agenda that do not 
require action.  
 

• Cape May County 2022 Comprehensive Plan 
• Galloway Township Ordinances 2062-2021 & 2075-2022 
• Manchester Township Ordinance 22-12 
• Medford Township Ordinance 2021-12 
• Ocean Township Ordinances 2022-7 & 2022-8 
• Pemberton Township Ordinance 8-2022 

 
Acting ED Grogan noted that one of the Galloway ordinances includes the adoption of a 
redevelopment plan to facilitate the development of a warehouse. She said the Ocean and 
Pemberton Township ordinances clarify accessory structures. 
 
Commissioner Irick asked if staff would be using the new state guidelines when reviewing 
warehouse ordinances. 
 
Acting Ed Grogan said staff will be sharing the guidance with all Pinelands municipalities 
and encourage them to consider the relevant recommendations. 
 
Commissioner Irick asked if the warehouse applications would come before the 
Commission for a vote. 
 
Acting Ed Grogan said warehouses are typically private applications and would be 
reviewed by staff. 
 



PC2-52 
 

Commissioner Pikolycky left the meeting at 10:35 a.m. 
 
Permanent Land Protection Database and Interactive Map 
 
Acting ED Grogan said after years of tracking and reporting on preserved lands, the 
Commission now has a functional, new database that houses that information.  
 
Gina Berg, a Commission Resource Planner, said staff created an in-house interface that 
makes the process of searching and accessing deeds much easier. The database was funded 
with a grant from National Park Service (NPS). She displayed the web-based interface on 
the Smartboard and demonstrated how it works. including the many categories by which a 
deed can be searched. 
 
Acting ED Grogan added that the Commission now has the ability to track if a deed 
restriction is in or out of the targeted acquisition area that the Commission designated back 
in 1980, also known as the Section 502 federally designated areas. 
 
Mark DeLorenzo, a Commission GIS Specialist, provided a demonstration of the Pinelands 
Interactive map that now features the capability to view the geographic location and extent 
of deed restricted properties and, where available, provides a link to the actual deed. 
 
The Pinelands Interactive map can be found at this link: 
https://www.nj.gov/pinelands/home/maps/interactivemap/ 
 
Commissioner Avery said the mapping component is a great tool to help determine if a 
specific property is worth acquiring or preserving. 
 
Acting ED Grogan agreed and said staff would be using it for that purpose. She said staff 
can now assist appraisers more quickly and efficiently. 
 
Commissioner Meade asked if there is a specific filter to identify the targeted 502 areas that 
have been preserved. 
 
Acting ED Grogan said that 502 data can be accessed through the in-house interface but not 
the interactive map. She noted that because that specific data is so old and mostly paper, it 
continues to be entered into the system, so some of the data can be viewed. She thanked 
NPS for the funding to help this project come to fruition. 
 
General Public Comment 
 
Holly Cox of Montvale, NJ, said the Commission should support the recommendations of 
the Pinelands Preservation Alliance (PPA) to mitigate the threats of climate change. She 
listed the climate effects due to the rising global temperatures. She said governments need 
to reassess their energy polices for earth to remain habitable. 
 

https://www.nj.gov/pinelands/home/maps/interactivemap/


PC2-53 
 

Grace Rapp of Port Elizabeth, NJ, asked when a transcript of the meeting would be 
available. 
 
Chair Matos said the minutes of this meeting would be available in the July Commission 
meeting materials. She added that the meeting could be viewed on the Commission’s 
YouTube channel immediately following the meeting. 
 
Ms. Rapp said she could not hear what was being said. 
 
She asked if the application for the school bus loop would be discussed again at the June 
14th meeting. 
 
Acting ED Grogan said formal action on development applications only occurs at monthly 
Commission meetings. She said the application was approved today and the Commission 
provides meeting minutes but not provide transcripts. She noted that the meeting scheduled 
for Tuesday, June 14th is a Personnel and Budget Committee meeting. 
 
Ms. Rapp added that this is not a settled matter, and there will be a public hearing on the 
matter, held by NJDEP. 
 
Georgina Shanley of Red Bank, NJ said the Commission should not vote on applications 
before public comment. She said the Commission should be focused on the climate as the 
threat of overdevelopment is too great. She said the Commission should create new 
standards for conducting and accepting threatened and endangered species reports. She said 
solar should be mandated on all new buildings and that applicants should be held under a 
microscope. 
 
Peter Ferwerda, Warren Grove, NJ, raised concerns about a resource extraction operation in 
close proximity to his home that has lowered its lake by eight feet. He said he thinks the 
operation may be in violation of their NJDEP water permit. He said the state statute does 
not permit motorized vessels to operate on water bodies in the Pinelands, and he provided a 
photo from Google Earth of a vessel in the lake. 
 
Rhyan Grech of the Pinelands Preservation Alliance read a letter into the record regarding 
the need for the Commission to adopt specific regulations to mitigate climate change and 
for the Climate Committee to meet monthly. A petition of almost 700 members of the 
public was also submitted (see attached). 
 
Agnes Marsala, Chesterfield, NJ suggested that the Commission get on the net zero 
bandwagon and begin to require all new development in the protected zone to use alternate 
energy sources. She said noted that many cities are requiring new buildings to limit carbon 
emissions. 
 
Carleton Montgomery of the Pinelands Preservation Alliance asked if the Commission 
would be willing to share a shape file of the PLP data. He also asked if there was a way to 
track a deed restriction that never was filed or recorded. Lastly, he asked if the 



PC2-54 
 

Commission’s deed restriction data has been compared to the Recreation and Open Space 
Inventory (ROSI). 
 
Ms. Berg said the PLP data can be shared. She said on occasion an old paper deed has been 
found in a file and added to the database. She said at this time, the Commission has not 
compared the PLP data with the ROSI. 
 
Acting ED Grogan added that the PLP database is used to manage the data and does not 
have the ability to track or determine if a deed that was supposed to be recorded has 
actually been filed. She said some of the properties listed on the ROSI are not what the 
Commission considers preserved lands. She said if a township sends the ROSI to the 
Commission staff does check to see if any property should be added to the PLP database, 
but we do not seek it out. 
 
Commissioner Irick said several members of the public raised issues with the application 
that the Commission voted on today. He asked if there is any reason why the public cannot 
comment before the vote.  
 
Acting ED Grogan said the public is provided the opportunity to comment on Public 
Development applications at the Commission meeting one month prior to the vote. She said 
this permits staff the opportunity to respond to the comment and address any concerns in 
the report. 
 
Director Horner added that when a Public Development application is submitted it is 
immediately posted on the website so members of the public can follow along. He added 
that as part of the application the applicant is required to do public notice in the newspaper 
and provide surrounding property owners with notice that the application has been filed 
with the Commission. He said at any point in the process the public can submit public 
comment. 
 
Commissioner Lohbauer said a few members of the public today raised criticism of the 
Climate Committee for not taking enough action in the wake of the climate crisis. He said 
he will be making a greater effort to move forward with CMP amendments related to 
climate mitigation. 
 
Adjournment 
 
Commissioner Avery moved to adjourn the meeting. Commissioner Irick seconded the 
motion. The Commission agreed to adjourn at 11:25. 
 

Certified as true and correct: 

 
_________________________________  Date: June 21, 2022 
Jessica Noble, Executive Assistant  






















































	A-ForWeb_June10Minutes
	B-PPALtr_Petition

